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Amendment Policy
St. John Lutheran School reserves the right to amend the policies and procedures in this handbook. Thirty days
notice will be given for the new policy to be effective. This handbook is not an all-inclusive manual. Sometimes
new situations occur, or circumstances will arise not covered specifically in this handbook. The administration
reserves the right to exercise its administrative prerogative in responding to these new situations. Adopted 6.7.21
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WELCOME TO ST. JOHN LUTHERAN PRESCHOOL
Your decision to send your child to our school reflects your concern as a parent to place your child in an
environment reflecting Christian values and developmentally appropriate instruction. We will strive to make your
child’s involvement with our program a positive and worthwhile experience. St. John Lutheran Preschool is a
Nationally Accredited Lutheran School that provides an education that is Christ-centered and rooted in hands-on
learning experiences using a multidisciplinary approach to education. St. John Lutheran Preschool has been
established as an outreach ministry to the community of Defiance. We value opportunities for parental
involvement and hope to work with families in helping children develop to their fullest potential.
The building and its facilities have been inspected and found in accordance with the standards set by the State of
Ohio Department of Education, state and local health departments, and the State Fire Marshal. There is no smoking
in the building at any time. Carry-on and use of firearms are prohibited.
St. John Lutheran Preschool operates under the auspices of the Board of Christian Day School and has been placed
under the general supervision of the early childhood director and the school administrator/principal. In addition,
the program operates within the Ohio State guidelines for pre-school and school-age childcare programs, Chapter
3301-32. Reports and copies of these regulations are available to any parent. Any concerns or complaints can be
addressed to the Ohio Department of Education Ombudsman: (866)-886-3537 option #4
It is unlawful for the facility to discriminate in the enrollment of children upon the basis of race, color, religion, sex
or national origin or disability in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 104 Stat.32,42 U.S.C.
12101 et seq.
St. John Lutheran Preschool will follow a non-discrimination practice in delivery of service to children and staff. "In
accordance with Federal law and U.S. Department of Agriculture policy, this institution is prohibited from
discriminating on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability. To file complaint of discrimination,
write USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, Room 326-W, Whitten Building, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW,
Washington, D.C. 20250-9410 or call (202) 720-5964 (voice and TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and
employer."
St. John Lutheran Preschool is licensed through the State of Ohio Department of Education. We are capable of
providing care and education for preschool-age children. Our license is posted in each classroom near the
doorway. State laws and regulations that govern child care are available from the Early Childhood Director.
Recent licensing inspection reports and any substantiated complaint investigation reports for the past two years are
posted in a conspicuous place in the facility for review.
The administrator and each employee of the facility, under Section 2151.421 of the Ohio Revised Code, are required
to report their suspicions of child abuse or neglect to the local children’s services agency.
Any parent, custodial parent, or guardian of a child enrolled in the facility shall be permitted unlimited access to
the facility during all hours of operation for the purpose of contacting their children, evaluating the care provided
by the facility or evaluating the premises. Upon entering the premises, the parent, or guardian shall sign in at the
receptionist desk.
Contact information (a roster) for parents or guardians of the children attending the facility is available upon
request. This information will not include the name, telephone number or email of any parent/guardian who
requests that his/her name, telephone number or email not be included.
May the Lord Jesus Christ bless your family as you provide your child with a quality educational experience that
will build friendships in a positive, learning environment!
Blessings,
Mrs. Debbie Wagner
Early Childhood Director
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INTRODUCTION / PHILOSOPHY/GOALS
The mission of St. John Lutheran Preschool & Tiger’s Den is to follow Christ’s example and, empowered by the
Holy Spirit, prepare children for a life of discipleship by helping them to grow in faith, knowledge and
character.”
Our vision is for each child to grow in his or her faith with Jesus. Our students encounter social experiences that
will build their social competence, and collaboration skills. They will play and learn in an inviting and secure
Christian environment, nurturing the whole child, spiritually, socially, emotionally, intellectually and physically.
Our Philosophy
We believe:
-Jesus is at the center of our program and that the Holy Scriptures are our guide in educating God’s children.
-Children are to be encouraged to learn and grow by foundation of developmentally appropriate experiences
where all children can succeed in a safe, Christian, and nurturing environment.
-Each Child is a unique individual created by God and that they all can learn in their own way.
-Children learn best through meaningful play that encourages curiosity, discovery and problem solving which
allows each child growth and development of a positive self-image.
–Education should reflect the integration of physical, cognitive, social, and emotional, language, self-help, and
spiritual areas for the total development of the child.
–Parents are the child’s first teachers and that children learn best when parents are involved in the educational
program.
-The primary bridge between home and school is the involvement of the congregation and community in training
and equipping the child as the Bible reveals. “Train up a child in the way he should go and when he is old he will
not depart from it”. Proverbs 22:6
ACCIDENTS AND EMERGENCY CARE
All parents must completely fill out the medical emergency card and emergency medical care authorization form.
Copies are placed in the child’s file and in the emergency card file cabinet in the school office. Please list people
who can be contacted to pick up your child in the event of illness or emergency. No child will be admitted to
preschool without all the names, addresses, and phone numbers of the child’s physician, dentist, and parental
signatures on these forms. ALL FORMS MUST BE TURNED IN BY THE FIRST DAY OF SCHOOL.
Accidents and emergency situations will be handled according to the following procedures:
1.Minor accidents or injuries such as bumps, bruises, or cuts that seem not to require stitches or further medical
care will be treated by staff who will comfort, wash wounds, and apply necessary Band-Aids. These incidents will
be reported to parents verbally or in writing. An Ohio Department of Education Incident/Injury/Illness Report will
be completed and a copy will be sent home on the same day the incident occurs. With any injury to the face or the
head, the parent will be called. All incident reports will be written in an “Incident/Injury Log.”
2. Parents, guardians, or persons listed on the emergency card authorization form will be called for accidents
requiring further professional medical attention (but not emergency treatment). The person contacted will be told
to pick up the child for further assessment by a physician. Examples of such injuries include deep cuts that may
require stitches, uncontrollable nosebleeds, large bumps or bruises (particularly to the head), and possible
fractures. A staff member will complete an Ohio Department of Education Incident/Illness/Injury Report.
3. In emergency situations such as broken bones, unconsciousness, extreme fever, large or deep cuts, and head
injuries followed by vomiting and/or dizziness, the staff will call for ambulance service, and an adult will
accompany the child to the hospital. The parent/guardian/ or emergency care person and the child’s doctor will be
informed immediately.
4. First aid kit supplies and directions for use are available in each preschool room. A first aid kit will be taken
along on all field trips.
5. Each month we have a fire drill. Severe weather and lockdown drills are held in the fall and spring. The
children benefit from these drills, by learning to evacuate their classrooms quickly according to assigned escape
routes.
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A DAY AT PRESCHOOL
A typical day at preschool includes a variety of activities that are fun as well as educational. A typical day
includes large group, small group, a nutritious snack, gross motor activities, and learning center time. Each
classroom is divided into carefully planned learning centers that allow children to engage in meaningful
experiences that are also aligned with the Ohio Department of Education’s Early Learning Content Standards.
In each classroom you will find:
● Literacy centers: which include a book area and a writing center. Here children explore the world of
reading and writing with engaging materials that help them discover how fun and enjoyable reading and
writing can be. Throughout the classroom you will find high interest reading material which enables
children to connect meaningful reading and writing experiences with different topics the class is studying.
● Dramatic play or housekeeping: Children experiment with different roles as they explore the familiar
and the unknown through pretend play. This area is filled with props and dress-up clothes to encourage
imagination. One day it might be a kitchen with a play stove, sink and dishes; the next day it might be a
post office, restaurant, or airplane. Children learn to work with other children, to share and to make
compromises.
● Art center: which includes materials for creativity – colored paper, play dough, crayons, markers, tape,
glue, collage materials, safe scissors, etc., these items are set out on shelves and tables. Art projects may be
done either independently or simultaneously as a class activity. Children are developing small muscle
control and hand/eye coordination, as well as creativity.
● Math center: Students learn about number, geometry, and beginning algebra by manipulating materials
and playing games in this center. In this center you will find dice games, different manipulatives,
measuring tools, puzzles, and learning tools that help children develop problem solving skills.
● Blocks: Students explore the world of constructing and engineering. Wooden blocks of different sizes
and shapes are arranged on shelves along with small cars and an assortment of “little people” to encourage
children to build replicas of their world, or creations of their imaginations as they practice symbolic
representation. They are developing an understanding of the relationships between size and shape, and the
basic math concepts of geometry and numbers.
● Science center: Children may engage in projects that are interesting to them, such as how do plants
grow, or what kind of animals will you find in a pond? The teacher puts out interesting objects from
nature, such as leaves, rocks, and seashells, for children to examine with a magnifying glass, plus paper
and markers to draw them.
● Large motor skills: Children crawl through tunnels, climb and balance, hop and jump, and bounce and
dribble balls, developing coordination, balance, and large muscle control. Gross motor room and outdoor
playground both have an area designed especially to encourage the use and development of large muscles.
● Social Emotional Skills: Children will learn to solve conflicts, develop coping strategies, and problem
solve in a variety of different ways. Our program uses Conscious Discipline and Love & Logic to facilitate
learning in this area.
Please make sure that your child wears “play clothes” at preschool. Sometimes projects and play are messy. ☺
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ARRIVAL / DISMISSAL
An adult is required to walk their child to their designated preschool room. However, once the parent and child
enter the designated preschool area the parents are responsible for taking their child to the bathroom and have
their child wash their hands. All children need to be picked up at dismissal time unless prior arrangements have
been made or they will be taken to the Tigers Den and a fee will be assessed. Adopted 6.28.18
AUGUST PARENT MEETINGS / OPEN HOUSE
A parent meeting will be held in August in which the teacher will discuss important information about the school
year. In addition, an open house will be held for students to meet the teacher and explore the classroom.
BAD WEATHER DELAYS / CLOSINGS
The Preschool follows the same procedure as St. John Lutheran School in regard to possible bad weather
delays/closings. In the case of fog, sleet, snow, ice, etc. please listen to the following radio stations for information:
WDFM, WZOM, or WONW. You need to listen for information regarding “DEFIANCE CITY SCHOOLS: PUBLIC
& PAROCHIAL“.
The procedure for delays FOR MORNING CLASSES is as follows:
If there is a TWO-HOUR DELAY, we will begin at 10:45 A.M. and meet until 12:15 P.M.
The procedure for delays FOR AFTERNOON CLASSES is as follows:
If there is a TWO-HOUR DELAY in the morning, afternoon classes will meet from 1:00 - 3:30 PM
For SCHOOL CLOSINGS, again, we will be closed like the rest of the public and parochial schools. If several days
are missed due to bad weather, efforts may be made on the part of the teacher to make-up some days, possibly with
combined classes in a field trip, etc.
BIRTHDAYS
Birthdays may be celebrated on or near the child’s birthday. For birthdays, children may bring in cupcakes, cake,
cookies, etc. for the celebration.
CHILD RELEASE FORMS
A SPECIAL FORM - Authorization For Preschool/Tiger’s Den Pickup will need to be filled out which indicates
who can pick a child up from school. IF SOMEONE NOT ON THE CHILD’S LIST COMES TO PICK THE CHILD
UP, THE TEACHER OR AIDE CANNOT DISMISS THE CHILD TO THAT PERSON WITHOUT WRITTEN OR
VERBAL PERMISSION BY THE PARENT. This is especially critical in situations where non-custodial parents are
involved. We require a complete copy of court orders that you need us to follow. A parent will be called if this
situation should arise.
CHRISTMAS PROGRAM / SINGING IN CHURCH
Each December, generally on a Sunday a week or two before Christmas, we have our annual Christmas Program.
Students in all preschool classes are invited to participate in this event. This is a very special way to celebrate our
Lord’s birth. The preschool students also occasionally sing for church services on Sunday. This is also another
special way for the children to praise our Lord in song.
CLASS SIZE / ROSTER
Class size will follow ODE regulations in maximum students allowed per classroom. The school retains the right to
alter the boy/girl ratio in cases of extreme imbalance in class enrollment. Parents are asked permission to place
their child’ name on a roster published for other members of the class. A preschool aide will be assigned to each
class as necessary.
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COMMUNICATION
A preschool newsletter will be sent home on a regular basis indicating events, field trips, monthly themes, etc. In
addition, a school newsletter is sent home weekly. Please take the time to read these as they will contain important
information you need to know for your preschooler. You can also communicate with the classroom teacher through
Fast Direct or ClassDojo, a parent communication system.
CONFIDENTIALITY
“The St. John Lutheran preschool staff makes every effort to respect each individual and to foster a strong
community by recognizing the importance and need for confidentiality. We respect each family’s privacy and
encourage both staff and parents to communicate accordingly. Communications about children should be kept
confidential unless there is a cause for concern for the child’s well-being, in which case, the appropriate authority
will be notified (i.e. program director, principal, pastor, Department of Job and Family Services, etc.)
CURRICULUM
We strive to interweave many aspects of Christian education and age-appropriate developmental learning
experiences. We use a developmental approach to learning in our classroom. Each day we offer appropriate play
experiences that provide opportunities for: creative art, dramatic play, puzzles, games, manipulatives, hands-on
science & discovery, outdoor play, math, language arts, personal discipline, social development and emotional
well-being, health & safety. We aim to provide experiences for our children to understand the love and joy of the
Christian faith with stories, songs, and other age-appropriate activities. Our children say grace before snacks and
experience facets of Christian curriculum in many classroom activities each day. Jesus is definitely a part of our
day.
3-year-old class:
Our 3 year olds use the One in Christ religion curriculum. The preschool A edition helps children learn about Jesus
and grow in their understanding of God’s love for them. The lessons provide a framework for children to explore,
express, create, and relate to one another each day. Some will be new topics for your child and some will be
familiar. Our 3 year olds learning centers and activities revolve around our Houghton Mifflin Alpha-Friends
curriculum. This curriculum is aligned to Ohio’s Early Learning & Development Standards. We will explore such
topics as Welcome to Preschool/All About Me; Animals, Animals; Construction Zone; My Family, My Community;
Changing and Growing; Four Seasons; In the City, In the Country; Let’s Move; Five Senses; Ready for
Kindergarten. Within this framework, using learning centers and interesting activities, we can offer a flexible,
unique experience for your child each day. How a child learns is as important as what he or she learns, and “play”
is how this learning takes place. Play-based learning occurs throughout the day’s activities.
4-year-old class:
Our 4 year olds use the One in Christ religion curriculum. The Preschool B edition helps children learn about Jesus
and grow in their understanding of God’s love for them. The lessons provide a framework for children to explore,
express, create, and relate to one another each day. Our 4 year old learning centers and activities revolve around
our Houghton Mifflin BIG DAY for PreK curriculum offers a thematic approach to guiding our 4 year old student
learners and is organized around eight themes that grow in scope as children become more aware of their
surroundings. BIG DAY for PreK introduces children to math, literacy, science, and the Arts in a way that supports
project & play based learning and joyful engagement and is aligned to Ohio’s Early Learning and Development
Standards.
The eight themes include:
1) Ready for School
2) My Family
3) Our Community
4) Awesome Animals

5) Imagine It, Make It
6) Growing Up Healthy
7) Nature All Around Us
8) Moving On

BIG DAY for PreK involves a research- based approach that helps children to acquire social-emotional development with
social skills interwoven into every activity. Each week’s unit is centered on a BIG IDEA designed to engage children.
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DAILY ABSENCE PROCEDURE
When your child is absent, please call the school office (419-782-1751) before class begins and inform them why your child
will not be attending school. The state requires that we know where children are when they are not in class as scheduled.
This allows the teacher and classmates to know why the student is not in school.
DISCIPLINE POLICY
According to the Ohio state guidelines 3301-37-10, behavior management/discipline shall apply to all persons on the
premises and shall be restricted as follows:
(1) There shall be no cruel, harsh, corporal punishment or any unusual punishments such as, but not limited to, punching,
pinching, shaking, spanking, or biting.
(2) No discipline shall be delegated to any other child.
(3) No physical restraints shall be used to confine a child by any means other than holding a child for a short period of
time, such as in a protective hug, so the child may regain control.
(4) No child shall be placed in a locked room or confined in an enclosed area such as a closet, or box, or a similar cubicle.
(5) No child shall be subjected to profane language, threats, and derogatory remarks about himself or his family, or any
other verbal abuse.
(6) Discipline shall not be imposed on a child for failure to eat, failure to sleep, or for toileting accidents.
(7) Techniques of discipline shall not humiliate, shame, or frighten a child.
(8) Discipline shall not include withholding food, rest, or toilet use.
(9) Separation, when used as discipline shall be brief in duration and appropriate to the child’s age and developmental
ability, and the child shall be within sight and hearing of a preschool staff member in a safe, lighted, and well-ventilated
space.
(10) The preschool staff shall not abuse or neglect children and shall protect children from abuse and neglect while in
attendance in the preschool program.
DUE PROCESS
If behavior problems persist, the parents will be asked to a conference with the Early Childhood Director to discuss what
may be helpful in motivating their child to behave in an acceptable way. It may be suggested that the child be involved in
the process as well. If improvement is seen, the strategies will continue to be utilized to ensure continued successful
involvement in the classroom. If, after meeting with the parents and the early childhood director, the misconduct
continues, a suspension from the program of up to 2 weeks can be imposed at the Early Childhood Director and the
Principal’s discretion. When the student returns, the behavior modification program will be continued with a daily report
going home to the parents. If no progress toward development of acceptable behavior is seen, the Early Childhood
Director and the Principal, with the approval of the Board of Christian Day School, can dismiss the child from St. John
Lutheran Preschool.
FIELD TRIPS
Several field trips may be taken during the year. An Ohio Department of Education general permission slip must be
signed at the beginning of the year. Parents will always be informed of dates and locations of impending field trips.
Parents are asked to help with transportation and supervision. Parents who assist with transportation will be required to
produce a valid Driver’s license and proof of current insurance. All state guidelines (laws) for transporting children in car
seats must be followed during these trips. All ODE Staff Member/Child Ratios must be maintained.
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HEALTH POLICY
1. Each child must have a completed medical and immunization form on file before the first day of attendance.
2. A daily health check will take place when the child arrives at preschool. Children will not be admitted to preschool if
the staff member who greets the child considers the child ill. A child with any of the following signs or symptoms of
illness shall be immediately isolated and discharged to his parent or guardian:
(a) Diarrhea (three or more abnormally loose stools within a twenty-four-hour period);
(b) Severe coughing, causing the child to become red or blue in the face or to make a whooping sound;
(c) Difficult or rapid breathing;
(d) Yellowish skin or eyes;
(e) Redness of the eye or eyelid, thick and purulent (pus) eye discharge, matted eyelashes, burning, itching or eye
pain;
(f) Temperature of one hundred degrees Fahrenheit taken by the auxiliary method when in combination with other
signs of illness;
(g) Untreated infected skin patch(es);
(h) Unusually dark urine and/or gray or white stool;
(i) Stiff neck with an elevated temperature;
(j) Evidence of untreated lice, scabies, or other parasitic infestation;
(k) Sore throat or difficulty swallowing; or
(l) Vomiting more than one time or when accompanied by any other sign or symptom of illness.
(m) Excessive lethargy (Adopted 6.28.18)
3. Children will be sent home if in the opinion of the staff a child is too ill to be in preschool. In such cases, the
child’s parent or guardian will be called. The parent or guardian must come to pick up the child or arrange to have
another person pick up the child within one and one-half hours and inform the staff of these arrangements. The school’s
health room will be used as an isolation room until the parent or authorized person arrives to pick up the child.The
following precautions shall be taken for children suspected of having a communicable disease: A child isolated due to
suspected communicable disease shall be:
●
●
●

●
●

Cared for in a room or portion of a room not being used in the preschool program;
Within sight and hearing of an adult at all times. No child shall ever be left alone or unsupervised;
Made comfortable and provided with a cot/mat or crib for infants. All linens and blankets used by the ill child
shall be laundered before being used by another child. After use, the cots shall be disinfected with an appropriate
germicidal agent, or, if soiled with blood, feces, vomit, or other body fluids, the cots shall be cleaned with soap
and water and then disinfected with an appropriate germicidal agent;
Observed carefully for worsening condition;
Discharged to parent, guardian, or person designated by the parent or guardian as soon as practical.

4. Children who have been out of school because they were ill or “mildly ill” should not return until they have been
free from vomiting, diarrhea, and fever for a period of 24 hours without the use of medications (Approved 6.5.2020).
We realize that this policy may be difficult for some parents, but please understand we must reduce the risk of
possible exposure to other children. "Mildly ill child" means a child who is experiencing minor common cold
symptoms, but who is not exhibiting any of the symptoms specified above or a child who does not feel well enough to
participate in activities (lethargy), but who is not exhibiting any of the symptoms listed above.
5. Children who have contracted communicable or contagious diseases / illnesses, including chicken pox, lice, etc.,
should be kept home. The preschool will need to be notified so that other preschool parents can be informed for their
own child’s welfare.
6. Please do not send medication with your child to be administered by the staff unless the proper medical prescription
form is filled out and signed by the child’s physician. Parents must give the first dose of all newly prescribed medication
to observe the child’s reaction.
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7. Staff members may not administer any type of non-prescription medicine including Tylenol, aspirin, cold
medicine, or cough medicine unless it is prescribed by a physician and labeled in the manner listed below. The
proper medical prescription form again must be filled out and signed by a physician.
Prior to administering a prescription or nonprescription medication, food supplement, or medical food, the program shall
ensure that:
●
●
●
●
●

The written instructions of a licensed physician or licensed dentist as appropriate are on file
Each time medication, medical food, or a food supplement is administered, a written record or log including
dosage, date, and time shall be made. That record or log shall be kept on file for one year.
Only employees who are health professionals or who have completed a drug administration training may
administer medication pursuant to section 3313.713 of the Revised Code.
Medication shall be stored in a designated locked storage place, except drugs requiring refrigeration shall be kept
in a refrigerator not accessible to children. Emergency medication may be kept in an unlocked storage place as
long as it is out of reach of children.
Parent permission is needed for the application of topical products and lotions and is to be applied according to
the manufacturer’s instructions.

Requirements include the following:
● Medication is a personal prescription from the physician.
● The label bears the child’s name
● The label lists directions for administering the medication.
● The label lists the date, physician’s name, prescription number, and pharmacy name.
8. If your child has any type of allergies (eg. food/drink, animal, environmental), please note these on the enrollment
form.

9. The preschool teacher is trained for signs and symptoms of disease and will conduct a daily health check. Adults
working within the classroom, including classroom aides, parent volunteers, etc. will be trained in proper hand washing
procedures and also in disinfecting procedures to help prevent the spread of communicable disease.

10. If a child already in school is suspected of needing isolation as in the case of fever, rash, nausea, vomiting, etc., he/she
will be sent to the school office. Parents, guardians, or designated individuals on the medical emergency form will be
telephoned to pick up the child.

9

10

LUNCH PROGRAM
All full day pupils are invited to participate in the hot lunch program. Lunch is served at the lowest possible prices.
Payment for lunches should be made on a weekly or monthly basis by putting money in their account with the
Lunchroom Manager any day before the start of school hours.
2022 - 2023 LUNCH PRICES:
K – 8 = $3.20
Adult = $4.00 Reduced = $ .40
2022 - 2023 MILK PRICE:
ALL = $ .70
Drinking Water available upon request (SM8)- Approved 6.05.2020
1. Federal Program - St. John participates in the Federal Free and Reduced Lunch Program for those families who meet
the requirements set by Federal guidelines. Letters and application forms are distributed to all families at the beginning of
the school year. However, families may apply at any time during the school year when they feel they qualify. The district
should take steps to ensure that students qualifying for free or reduced meals are not overtly identified in any way.
(SM3)- Approved 6.5.2020
2. Menu - A monthly listing of meal components is distributed to families at the beginning of each month.
3. Student Meal Charges - Charging in the lunchroom is discouraged. However, students without lunch money may
charge for the day’s lunch, which is to be repaid the following day without their peers knowing. (Approved 6.5.2020)
A notice of the charge will be sent home that day. Continued charges or neglect of repayment for meals will result in the
principal or a designated person contacting the parents.
4. Wellness Policy – See appendix #2 (p.19)
MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT USED IN THE PRESCHOOL PROGRAMS
Materials and equipment used within the curriculum developed for the preschool programs will be appropriate for the
age level and for the objectives listed in the handbook.
Developmentally appropriate materials will include such items as blocks, manipulatives (such as legos, etc.), ageappropriate games, puzzles, balls, paint supplies, scissors, markers, crayons, etc. A few material items such as paint
shirts, beans/macaroni/popcorn will be required of each student at the beginning of the school year.
Developmentally appropriate equipment will include such items as kitchen area supplies, easels, a woodworking table, a
sensory table, gym equipment (such as mats, tires, parachute, scooters, etc.), audio-visual equipment, etc. This equipment
will be checked regularly for safety and kept in good repair.
NON-DISCRIMINATION POLICY
St. John Lutheran Preschool will follow a non-discrimination practice in delivery of service to children and staff. There
will be no preference toward or discrimination against any individual because of race, color, ethnic origin, gender, or
handicap.
While the school does not discriminate against students with special needs, a full range of services may not always be
available to them. Decisions concerning the admission and continued enrollment of a student in the school are based
upon the student’s emotional, academic and physical abilities and the resources available to the school in meeting the
student’s needs. Adopted 6.28.18
OPEN-DOOR POLICY
Parents and guardians are welcome in the classroom and school. If parents or guardians would like to visit the classroom
24 -hour notification must be made to the classroom teacher for approval to lessen distractions. All visitors are in the
classroom as observers only. All visitors must report to the school office to sign in upon arrival and sign out upon
departure. This visitation policy may be subject to change due to Covid guidelines. Adopted 6.28.18
PARENT TEACHER LEAGUE (P.T.L.)
Our school does have a Parent Teacher League (P.T.L.) with meetings periodically throughout the school year. Preschool
Parents are welcome to participate in these activities. Parents should check the weekly school newsletters for details.
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PARTIES
Three or four times a year, the preschool classes have parties (Examples: Christmas, Valentine’s Day, etc.). Parents may
be asked to help by sending in treats and/or being party helpers.
PAYMENT OF FEES / LATE TUITION POLICY
Preschool families have two options in paying tuition: 1) Payment in full for the year can be made prior to the first day of
school. This option includes a 4% discount for early payment. Or 2) Payment may be made monthly upon receipt of the
invoice from the school bookkeeper. Payments are due on the 1st day of the month being paid for. A 10-day grace period
is available each month. A $10.00 late fee is added to the invoice balance if the payment is received after the 10th day of
the month that it was due. Any questions or concerns about payments should be directed to the school bookkeeper.
PHYSICAL EXAMINATION
According to the Ohio Dept. of Education guidelines, each child will be required to have a physical examination, which
must be done each year the child attends preschool. Medical forms are available in the school office.
PRESCHOOL FEES
See the tuition and fees sheet for rates for each class. There is also a $50.00 arts and activities fee charged for supplies
provided by the school.
These fees are for the nine months, Sept. - May. Monthly tuition payments are due by the first of each month. A payment
is considered overdue if not paid by the 10th of each month. (SEE LATE PAYMENT POLICY.)
Both the Preschool and the K-8 Elementary school have application fees that must accompany your application package.
Application fees for preschool are $75 per child or $115 for 2 or more children. (Adopted 1.10.19)
After extended illnesses of two or more consecutive weeks, the Board of Christian Day School upon written request will
consider a refund of preschool tuition for the absence period. Consideration will only be given where hospitalization was
necessary and/or a doctor’s excuse is presented. There are no deductions for vacation or other reasons.
A family with more than one child in St. John Lutheran School at one time will be charged a reduced rate for the second
child. See the tuition and fees sheet for details or check with the school office for this amount.
PROGRESS REPORTS
Progress reports will be sent out three times a year. Parent-Teacher conferences will be held in the fall and the spring for
all parents. All reporting shall be according to established procedures of the program's governing board.
PROPER DRESS
In preschool it is acceptable for boys and girls to wear shorts or pants. Since the children will be working with paints,
glue, etc., and since accidents do happen, we advise that children not wear particularly “good” clothes. We urge you to
dress your child in anticipation of these activities.
CHILDREN ARE TO WEAR GYM OR TENNIS SHOES. Your child will usually be either going outside for recess or to
the gym. It is difficult for the girls to do these activities in patent leather/slip-on type shoes, and it is also difficult for the
boys to do such activities in cowboy boots or sandals. The teacher may limit your child’s participation in activities if the
teacher feels the child’s shoes are unsafe for the activity. Flip flops with or without backs or open-toed sandals are NOT
allowed. Students will not be allowed on the gym floor without proper gym shoes.
REGISTRATION PROCEDURES
The registration date for members of St. John Lutheran Church and for those children already currently enrolled in St.
John Lutheran Preschool or Christian Day School is set in January of the current year for the following year. Registration
for all others begins two weeks after the registration date.
To register for a preschool class, the proper registration form must be filled out AND accompanied by the nonrefundable
Application Fee. If class enrollment has reached maximum size, a waiting list will be established. (OPENINGS OFTEN
DEVELOP IN THE SUMMER.) A copy of the official birth certificate (obtained from the local health department) and the
child’s medical statement is required by the first day of school
In order for a two-year old, three-year old or a four-year old to register for the following fall (school year) the child must
be two, three, or four respectively by September 30th. This calendar date of September 30 correlates with the kindergarten
cut-off date regarding birthdays for all local schools including St. John Lutheran School.

12

RELEASE OF A CHILD
Staff will release children only to persons listed on the “Authorization for Pickup” form provided that is signed by the
parent. If an emergency arises the parent must provide a written, signed note giving the person permission to pick-up
their child. Staff will ID anyone they do not recognize. Please let people know about this ahead of time so they bring a
picture ID and they are not offended. The children's safety is our priority! Staff will not release children to anyone,
including parents, who appear to be under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Emergency contacts will be called to
transport the child home. Police will be notified if necessary. A child shall only be released to persons eighteen years of
age or older except when parent permission is on file. An Authorization for Pickup form must be signed and dated by the
parent.
RESTROOM USAGE
All registering children are expected to be toilet trained and have knowledge of how to wash hands after using the toilet.
Students are required to use the bathroom and wash hands before entering the 3 and 4-year-old preschool class. Parents
or guardians will be contacted and requested to visit the school for immediate assistance with situations involving soiled
clothing. The school staff will attempt to make the child comfortable in the interim. Repeated occurrences of soiled
clothing may result in a request for the child to be withdrawn from class. PULL-UPS ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE
‘UNDERWEAR’ FOR CHILDREN ATTENDING PRESCHOOL.
●

Coordination between the teacher and the aide on duty will provide for all students to be supervised in going to
the restroom.

●

Two-year old preschool children are not expected to be toilet trained before entering the “Together With Jesus”
preschool class. Restrooms and separate diaper changing areas are available outside the classroom. Adults
accompanying the child to class are expected to provide necessary diapers and change diapers as needed.

SCHOOL PHOTOGRAPHS
Individual school pictures are taken each year. These are included in the school yearbook and may be purchased if you
desire. The photographs are taken sometime in the fall. Because the photographer only comes to the school on one day, it
may be necessary for you to bring your child in on a non-class day to have his/her picture taken. One retake day is
usually scheduled.
SNACK TIME
The Preschool has a mid-session snack each day. Children will be requested to take turns bringing in the snack.
According to the Ohio Department of Education guidelines, any juices must be 100% fruit juice. A suggested list of
healthy snacks will be given out to parents prior to the first-class session. All food items must come in unopened
packages listing the contents of the food items. Assigned days are given on the “Snack List”. Children will be assigned
an entire week at a time. For the 3-day classes, parents will send in snacks & drinks on Mondays, Wednesdays & Fridays.
For the 2-day classes, the parents need to send in snacks & drinks on Tuesdays & Thursdays. There are some possible
exceptions due to scheduling conflicts, of course. Please advise the teacher of any dietary restrictions your child has,
such as food allergies or intolerances. If a student is identified with a specific food allergy or food intolerance, the
teacher will notify parents with the appropriate food list. Adopted 6.28.18
SPECIAL SERVICES
Special services, speech and behavior management, will be available for students who have been identified by our
intervention specialist. We work with intervention specialists from Northwest Ohio Educational Service Center.
SUPPLIES
A supply list is sent home at the August Parent Meeting or can be found on the Tiger’s Den/Preschool Website page:
http://www.sjltigersden.com/
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TIME ALLOTMENT AND CALENDAR
Three and four year old classes will be held 3 hours per day the class is in session. Morning classes are held from 8:30 –
11:30 a.m. and afternoon classes from 12:30 – 3:30 p.m. Parents are asked that they arrive no earlier than 8:30 a.m. for the
morning class and 12:30 p.m. for the afternoon class. Please pick them up promptly when class is over. PRESCHOOLERS
WHO ARE NOT PICKED UP BY 11:45 A.M. OR 3:45 P.M. WILL BE TAKEN TO OUR TIGERS’ DEN CHILD CARE
CENTER AND PARENTS WILL BE CHARGED THE CURRENT RATE.
Two-year-old classes will be held 2 hours one day a week. The Preschool calendar will coincide with the calendar of St.
John Lutheran School, which for the most part coincides with the school calendar of Defiance City Schools.

TRANSITION TO KINDERGARTEN STATEMENT
Students who are enrolled for kindergarten will be asked to participate in our kindergarten readiness screening. This
screening is performed by our staff and volunteers and is reviewed by the teachers and administration. The preschool
staff will also evaluate each student’s kindergarten readiness using our Kindergarten Readiness Checklist. Screening
dates will be provided. Concerns about kindergarten readiness will be addressed with either the teacher, preschool
director, or principal, and the parents. If the St. John Lutheran staff deems a child unready for kindergarten, alternative
options may be provided to the family. The decision of the school is final.

Withdrawal of Students and Tuition Credit
Parents who enroll their children, may withdraw the child under the following conditions only:
A. The family moves from the community.
B. Mutual agreement between parents and school.
C. In case of a child’s extreme illness or injury requiring hospitalization.
D. Upon written recommendation of a doctor.
In regard to conditions C and D above, the procedure shall be as follows:
1. After one week of continuous absence, the school shall contact the parents as to the status of the child.
2. After two weeks of continuous absence, the parents shall submit, in writing, a request to maintain a place on the roster
for their child and shall obligate themselves to continue making tuition payments.
3. If no request in writing is made, the child shall be removed from the roster and that place will be filled from the
waiting list.
4. Parents may then reapply and their child’s name will be placed on the waiting list. The child will be re-enrolled if a
place is available or when an opening occurs.
A maximum tuition credit of two weeks will be granted per pupil per school year for a two-week continuous absence due
to hospitalization or written recommendation of a doctor.
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APPENDIX #1

The Tiger’s Den Christian Childcare Center

Welcome to The Tigers' Den Christian Childcare Center
The Tigers' Den CCC has been established as an outreach ministry to the community of Defiance. Our main purpose is to
offer quality Christian educational childcare for working parents.
The building and its facilities have been inspected and found in accordance with the standards set by the State of Ohio
Department of Education, state and local health departments, and the State Fire Marshal. There is no smoking in the
building at any time. Carry-on and use of firearms are prohibited.
The Tigers' Den CCC operates under the auspices of the Board of Christian Day School and has been placed under the
general supervision of the early childhood director and the school administrator/principal. In addition, the program
operates within the Ohio State guidelines for pre-school and school-age childcare programs, Chapter 3301-32. Reports and
copies of these regulations are available to any parent. Any concerns or complaints can be addressed to the Ohio
Department of Education Ombudsman: (866)-886-3537 option #4
It is unlawful for the facility to discriminate in the enrollment of children upon the basis of race, color, religion, sex or
national origin or disability in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 104 Stat.32,42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.
The Tiger’s Den CCC will follow a non-discrimination practice in delivery of service to children and staff. "In accordance
with Federal law and U.S. Department of Agriculture policy, this institution is prohibited from discriminating on the
basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability. To file complaint of discrimination, write USDA, Director,
Office of Civil Rights, Room 326-W, Whitten Building, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, D.C. 20250-9410 or
call (202) 720-5964 (voice and TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer."
The Tigers' Den CCC is licensed through the State of Ohio Department of Education. We are capable of providing care
for preschool-age and school-age children at one time. Our license is posted in the hallway next to the parent information
board. State laws and regulations that govern child care are available at The Tigers' Den CCC from the Early Childhood
Director.
The administrator and each employee of the facility, under Section 2151.421 of the Ohio Revised Code, are required to
report their suspicions of child abuse or neglect to the local children’s services agency.
Any parent, custodial parent, or guardian of a child enrolled in the facility shall be permitted unlimited access to the
facility during all hours of operation for the purpose of contacting their children, evaluating the care provided by the
facility or evaluating the premises. Upon entering the premises, the parent, or guardian shall sign in at the receptionist
desk.
Contact information (a roster) for parents or guardians of the children attending the facility is available upon request. This
information will not include the name, telephone number or email of any parent/guardian who requests that his/her
name, telephone number or email not be included.
Recent licensing inspection reports and any substantiated complaint investigation reports for the past two years are
posted in a conspicuous place in the facility for review.
:
Our promise to each family is to work diligently to provide the highest quality child care within an atmosphere where
Christ is prevalent and Christian faith is evident by all who come in contact with your child. May the Lord Jesus Christ
bless your family as you provide your child with childcare that will build friendships in a positive, learning environment!
Blessings,
Mrs. Debbie Wagner
Early Childhood Director
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INTRODUCTION / PHILOSOPHY / GOALS
WELCOME TO The Tiger’s Den Christian Childcare Center! Your decision to send your child to our center reflects your
concern as a parent to place your child in an environment reflecting Christian values and developmentally appropriate
instruction. We will strive to make your child’s involvement with our program a positive and worthwhile experience.
The mission of St. John Lutheran Preschool & Tiger’s Den is to follow Christ’s example and, empowered by the Holy
Spirit, prepare children for a life of discipleship by helping them to grow in faith, knowledge and character.”
Our vision is for each child to grow in his or her faith with Jesus. Our students encounter social experiences that will
build their social competence, and collaboration skills. They will play and learn in an inviting and secure Christian
environment, nurturing the whole child, spiritually, socially, emotionally, intellectually and physically.
OUR PHILOSOPHY
We believe:
-Jesus is at the center of our program and that the Holy Scriptures are our guide in educating God’s children.
-Children are to be encouraged to learn and grow by foundation of developmentally appropriate experiences where all
children can succeed in a safe, Christian, and nurturing environment.
-Each Child is a unique individual created by God and that they all can learn in their own way.
-Children learn best through meaningful play that encourages curiosity, discovery and problem solving which allows
each child growth and development of a positive self-image.
–Education should reflect the integration of physical, cognitive, social, and emotional, language, self-help, and spiritual
areas for the total development of the child.
–Parents are the child’s first teachers and that children learn best when parents are involved in the educational program.
-The primary bridge between home and school is the involvement of the congregation and community in training and
equipping the child as the Bible reveals. “Train up a child in the way he should go and when he is old he will not depart
from it”. Proverbs 22:6

THE TIGER’S DEN CCC PROGRAM HOURS
The TIGERS’ DEN CCC is a year-round program; we open at 6:30 AM and close at 5:30 PM Monday through Friday. Our
program will operate as a Childcare Program for preschoolers and school-agers when St. John Lutheran School is in
session. We will be open when the school is closed for certain holidays depending upon the number of students
needing childcare and the availability of staff. A current school calendar may be obtained from the school office. For
days when SCHOOL CLOSES due to EXTREME BAD WEATHER, (a Defiance County Snow Emergency Level 2 or Level
3), the Tigers' Den CCC will be open at the discretion of the Early Childhood Director. If there is a two-hour weather
delay that eventually moves to a closure, the parent must pack their child’s lunch as the school cafeteria is not open on
closure days. Our staff will provide a light breakfast snack and a PM snack on those days. The Tiger’s Den CCC will offer
a “Summer Camp” childcare session when school closes in May.
STAFF CHILD RATIOS & MAXIMUM GROUP SIZE
The Tigers' Den Christian Childcare Program will not exceed the following state required ratios:
1:12 Preschool-age (3 years old)
1:14 Preschool-age (4 years old - until eligible for kindergarten)
1:18 School age (eligible for school)
The current maximum group capacity in our classrooms (based on 35 square feet per child) are as follows:
Preschool-age room: 12 - 14
School Age Room: 18

PRESCHOOL-AGE & SCHOOL-AGE POLICY
"Preschool child" means a child who has not entered kindergarten and is not of compulsory school age as defined in
section 3321.01 of the Revised Code. "School-age child" means a person who is in kindergarten or age six and of
compulsory school age according to the entry date determined by the school district in section 3321.01 of the Revised
Code.
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The Tigers' Den CCC policy is to have preschool students that are age 5 and entering kindergarten in the fall to
participate in the preschool-age program during the summer. If a parent would prefer their child attend the school-age
program it is up to the discretion of the early childhood director to make this decision after a conference with the
parent or, depending on daily ratios, the child may be moved to either classroom.
Requirements for Admission
The Tigers’ Den CCC, like St. John Lutheran School, will follow a non-discrimination practice in delivery of service to
children and staff. "In accordance with Federal law and U.S. Department of Agriculture policy, this institution is
prohibited from discriminating on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability. To file complaint of
discrimination, write USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, Room 326-W, Whitten Building, 1400 Independence Avenue,
SW, Washington, D.C. 20250-9410 or call (202) 720-5964 (voice and TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and
employer."
Enrollment is on a first come, first serve basis for children ages 3 years through eighth grade. When maximum group size
is reached, a waiting list will be made according to date/time of application and receipt of registration fee. If a child is not
yet 3, but enrolled in the St. John Lutheran Preschool Program, and will turn 3 on or before September 30, they are eligible
to use the Tigers' Den the first day of the school year.
Preschool-age children MUST be potty trained. All registering children are expected to be toilet trained before the
preschool-age program. Parents or guardians will be contacted and requested to visit the school for immediate assistance
with situations involving soiled clothing. The staff will attempt to make the child comfortable in the interim. Repeated
occurrences of soiled clothing may result in a request for the child to be withdrawn from the Tigers’ Den CCC. Pull-ups
are not acceptable underwear for an enrolled child.
ODE Required Forms
The following forms need to be completed and on file at our center before your child will be admitted to our program
A. Child Enrollment and Health Information
B. Custody Papers (if applicable)
C. Emergency Medical Form
D. Medical/Physical Care Plan or a Request for Administration of Medication
E. Child’s Medical Statement (Preschool Only)
F. Dental Exam Form (Recommendation for Preschool Only)
G. Authorization for Parent Pickup
H. Special Permissions Form/Handbook Agreement
*Individual child records shall be maintained, updated at least annually, and include, but not necessarily be limited
to, the following: Information on any injury to the child. The program shall notify parents when their child is injured
and the program shall maintain a log of such reports;
ACCIDENTS AND EMERGENCY CARE
All parents must completely fill out the medical emergency card and emergency medical care authorization form. Copies
are placed in the child’s file and in the emergency card file cabinet in the school office. Please list people who can be
contacted to pick up your child in the event of illness or emergency. No child will be admitted to preschool without all
the names, addresses, and phone numbers of the child’s physician, dentist, and parental signatures on these forms. ALL
FORMS MUST BE TURNED IN BY THE FIRST DAY OF SCHOOL.
Accidents and emergency situations will be handled according to the following procedures:
1.Minor accidents or injuries such as bumps, bruises, or cuts that seem not to require stitches or further medical care will
be treated by staff who will comfort, wash wounds, and apply necessary Band-Aids. These incidents will be reported to
parents verbally or in writing. An Ohio Department of Education Incident/Injury/Illness Report will be completed and a
copy will be sent home on the same day the incident occurs. With any injury to the face or head, the parent will be called.
All incident reports will be written in a “Incident/Injury Log.”
2. Parents, guardians, or persons listed on the emergency card authorization form will be called for accidents requiring
further professional medical attention (but not emergency treatment). The person contacted will be told to pick up the
child for further assessment by a physician. Examples of such injuries include deep cuts that may require stitches and
uncontrollable nosebleeds, large bumps or bruises (particularly to the head), and possible fractures. A staff member will
complete an Ohio Department of Education Incident/Injury/Illness Report.
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3. In emergency situations such as broken bones, unconsciousness, extreme fever, large or deep cuts, and head injuries
followed by vomiting and/or dizziness, the staff will call for ambulance service, and an adult will accompany the child to
the hospital. The parent/guardian/ or emergency care person and the child’s doctor will be informed immediately.
4. First aid kit supplies and directions for use are available in each preschool room. A first aid kit will be taken along on
all field trips.
5. Each month we have a fire drill. Severe weather and lockdown drills are held in the fall and spring. The children
benefit from these drills, by learning to evacuate their classrooms quickly according to assigned escape routes.
Daily Schedule
This schedule is flexible and is to be conducted at the teacher's discretion. Preschool children are taken to the restroom
and school age children are permitted to use the restroom as needed. Teachers strive to give each child individual
attention during the day. A copy of the daily schedule will be posted in each classroom.
DISCIPLINE POLICY
According to the Ohio state guidelines 3301-37-10, behavior management/discipline shall apply to all persons on the
premises and shall be restricted as follows:
(1) There shall be no cruel, harsh, corporal punishment or any unusual punishments such as, but not limited to, punching,
pinching, shaking, spanking, or biting.
(2) No discipline shall be delegated to any other child.
(3) No physical restraints shall be used to confine a child by any means other than holding a child for a short period of
time, such as in a protective hug, so the child may regain control.
(4) No child shall be placed in a locked room or confined in an enclosed area such as a closet, or box, or a similar cubicle.
(5) No child shall be subjected to profane language, threats, and derogatory remarks about himself or his family, or any
other verbal abuse.
(6) Discipline shall not be imposed on a child for failure to eat, failure to sleep, or for toileting accidents.
(7) Techniques of discipline shall not humiliate, shame, or frighten a child.
(8) Discipline shall not include withholding food, rest, or toilet use.
(9) Separation, when used as discipline shall be brief in duration and appropriate to the child’s age and developmental
ability, and the child shall be within sight and hearing of a preschool staff member in a safe, lighted, and well-ventilated
space.
(10) The preschool staff shall not abuse or neglect children and shall protect children from abuse and neglect while in
attendance in the preschool program.
Dress Code
Tennis shoes must be worn at all times. Flip-flops, sandals, and combination tennis shoe/roller blades are NOT allowed
in the Tigers' Den for safety reasons. The teacher or aide may limit your child's participation in activities if they feel the
child's shoes are unsafe for the activity.
FIELD TRIPS
Several field trips may be taken during the school year or Summer. An Ohio Department of Education general permission
slip must be signed at the beginning of the year. Parents will always be informed of dates and locations of impending
field trips. Parents are asked to help with transportation and supervision. Parents who assist with transportation will be
required to produce a valid Driver’s license and proof of current insurance. All state guidelines (laws) for transporting
children in car seats must be followed during these trips. All ODE Staff Member/Child Ratios must be maintained.
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Food Service
A breakfast/am snack and an afternoon snack are served each day. All snacks are planned to give your child a wellbalanced diet, in accordance with guidelines offered by the Ohio Department of Human Services and the Federal Food
Program. If your child has a food allergy, please make sure it is noted on the enrollment form and accompanied by a
signed note from your family doctor. A special diet form must be completed and kept on file. Your child may pack lunch.
The lunch will need to include foods from the basic groups. to supplement the lunch. Breakfast is served between 7:00 am
- 8:00 am. Lunch is served at 11:30 am. Snacks will be served after school at approximately 3:30–4:00 pm.
- Programs that provide meals or snacks shall:
- Both staff and children shall wash hands before food service. All program personnel involved during food
preparation or service shall be trained in sanitary procedures.
All families will have to pack or buy a school lunch directly from the cafeteria. Families will set up a lunch account on
Fast Direct. Payment for lunches should be made on a weekly or monthly basis, separate from Tigers' Den payment. A
monthly menu will be distributed to families at the beginning of each month. Students without lunch money may charge
for the day's lunch, which is to be repaid the following day. You will not be able to charge two days in a row. A notice of
the charge will be sent home that day.
HEALTH POLICY
1. Each child must have a completed medical and immunization form on file before the first day of attendance.
2. A daily health check will take place when the child arrives at preschool. Children will not be admitted to preschool if
the staff member who greets the child considers the child ill. A child with any of the following signs or symptoms of
illness shall be immediately isolated and discharged to his parent or guardian:
(a) Diarrhea (three or more abnormally loose stools within a twenty-four-hour period);
(b) Severe coughing, causing the child to become red or blue in the face or to make a whooping sound;
(c) Difficult or rapid breathing;
(d) Yellowish skin or eyes;
(e) Redness of the eye or eyelid, thick and purulent (pus) eye discharge, matted eyelashes, burning, itching or eye
pain;
(f) Temperature of one hundred degrees Fahrenheit taken by the auxiliary method when in combination with other
signs of illness;
(g) Untreated infected skin patch(es);
(h) Unusually dark urine and/or gray or white stool;
(i) Stiff neck with an elevated temperature;
(j) Evidence of untreated lice, scabies, or other parasitic infestation;
(k) Sore throat or difficulty swallowing; or
(l) Vomiting more than one time or when accompanied by any other sign or symptom of illness.
(m) Excessive lethargy (Adopted 6.28.18)
3. Children will be sent home if in the opinion of the staff a child is too ill to be in preschool. In such cases, the
child’s parent or guardian will be called. The parent or guardian must come to pick up the child or arrange to have
another person pick up the child within one and one-half hours and inform the staff of these arrangements. The school’s
health room will be used as an isolation room until the parent or authorized person arrives to pick up the child. The
following precautions shall be taken for children suspected of having a communicable disease: A child isolated due to
suspected communicable disease shall be:
●
●
●

●
●

Cared for in a room or portion of a room not being used in the preschool program;
Within sight and hearing of an adult at all times. No child shall ever be left alone or unsupervised;
Made comfortable and provided with a cot/mat or crib for infants. All linens and blankets used by the ill child
shall be laundered before being used by another child. After use, the cots shall be disinfected with an appropriate
germicidal agent, or, if soiled with blood, feces, vomit, or other body fluids, the cots shall be cleaned with soap
and water and then disinfected with an appropriate germicidal agent;
Observed carefully for worsening condition;
Discharged to parent, guardian, or person designated by the parent or guardian as soon as practical.

4. Children who have been out of school because they were ill or “mildly ill” should not return until they have been
free from vomiting, diarrhea, and fever for a period of 24 hours without the use of medications (Approved 6.5.2020).
We realize that this policy may be difficult for some parents, but please understand we must reduce the risk of
possible exposure to other children. "Mildly ill child" means a child who is experiencing minor common cold
symptoms, but who is not exhibiting any of the symptoms specified above or a child who does not feel well enough to
participate in activities (lethargy), but who is not exhibiting any of the symptoms listed above.

19

5. Children who have contracted communicable or contagious diseases / illnesses, including chicken pox, lice, etc.,
should be kept home. The preschool will need to be notified so that other preschool parents can be informed for their
own child’s welfare.
6. Please do not send medication with your child to be administered by the staff unless the proper medical prescription
form is filled out and signed by the child’s physician. Parents must give the first dose of all newly prescribed medication
to observe the child’s reaction.
7. Staff members may not administer any type of non-prescription medicine including Tylenol, aspirin, cold
medicine, or cough medicine unless it is prescribed by a physician and labeled in the manner listed below. The
proper medical prescription form again must be filled out and signed by a physician.
Prior to administering a prescription or nonprescription medication, food supplement, or medical food, the program shall
ensure that:
●
●
●
●
●

The written instructions of a licensed physician or licensed dentist as appropriate are on file
Each time medication, medical food, or a food supplement is administered, a written record or log including
dosage, date, and time shall be made. That record or log shall be kept on file for one year.
Only employees who are health professionals or who have completed a drug administration training may
administer medication pursuant to section 3313.713 of the Revised Code.
Medication shall be stored in a designated locked storage place, except drugs requiring refrigeration shall be kept
in a refrigerator not accessible to children. Emergency medication may be kept in an unlocked storage place as
long as it is out of reach of children.
Parent permission is needed for the application of topical products and lotions and is to be applied according tthe
manufacturer’s instructions.

Requirements include the following:
● Medication is a personal prescription from the physician.
● The label bears the child’s name
● The label lists directions for administering the medication.
● The label lists the date, physician’s name, prescription number, and pharmacy name.
8. If your child has any type of allergies (e.g. food/drink, animal, environmental), please note these on the enrollment
form.
9. The preschool teacher is trained for signs and symptoms of disease and will conduct a daily health check. Adults
working within the classroom, including classroom aides, parent volunteers, etc. will be trained in proper hand washing
procedures and also in disinfecting procedures to help prevent the spread of communicable disease.
10. If a child already in school is suspected of needing isolation as in the case of fever, rash, nausea, vomiting, etc., he/she
will be sent to the school office. Parents, guardians, or designated individuals on the medical emergency form will be
telephoned to pick up the child.

Outdoor Play
Outdoor play shall take place on a daily basis in suitable weather. The children will not play outside during heavy rain,
sleet, ozone action day, or other threatening weather. Please make sure your child dresses appropriately for the weather
and playground safety. When the weather is 25 degrees or above, the children will be going outdoors! Clothing should be
comfortable for outdoor play and easy to remove for going to the bathroom. Sandals may be worn inside but may not be
worn on the playground. Flip flops are NOT allowed for safety reasons. Please have TENNIS shoes available for the
playground or gym time. If outside weather is not suitable, we will go to the gym.
Summer Lunch Program
Families will need to pack lunch for their children who are using the Summer Camp program. Milk will be provided for
all students along with a light (am) breakfast snack and an afternoon snack. Please advise the teacher of any dietary
restrictions your child has, such as food allergies or food intolerances.
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Supervision of Children By Parents
An adult must accompany all preschool-age children to and from The Tigers' Den CCC. Each child must be signed in and
out by the parent or guardian on the clipboard by the door. Children may not be dropped off at the entrance of the
building or be sent inside alone, Staff must be made aware of each child's presence before the parent departs. At the time
of pick up, parents are asked to make contact with their child's teacher to ensure that staff are aware that the child has
been picked up. Parents are responsible for the supervision of their child before sign-in and after signing them out. If the
parent/guardian does not sign the child in or out the parent will be billed for a full day of childcare. Any special
messages, medications, special pickup notes, etc. are to be given to the teacher. The administrator or teacher will put
parent communication in the envelopes located in the hallway.
Supervision of Preschool-Age Children
At no time will a child be left unattended. Staff will supervise children at all times, including naptime. If a child becomes
ill, they may be isolated in the office or a section of the room not in use, but within the sight and hearing of a staff member.
Supervision of School-Age Children
At no time will a child be left unattended. Staff will supervise children at all times. A school-age child may use the restroom
in the Tigers’ Den area, but will not be allowed to leave downstairs. If a child becomes ill, they may be isolated in the office
or a section of the room not in use, but within the sight and hearing of a staff member.
FEES SCHEDULE
Rates are subject to change as the Board of Christian Day School deems necessary. Current rates are posted in the center.
A current rate sheet will be sent home as updated.
Breakfast, Snacks & Lunch
A breakfast snack and a pm snack are included in the above fees. During the school year, if St. John Lutheran School is
closed, please pack a lunch for your child. During the Summer, please pack a lunch for your child. We will provide milk
for the children.
Registration Fee/School Year
An annual non-refundable registration fee will be charged.
$40.00/per St. John Family $60/per Non-St. John Family
Registration Fee & Summer Camp
A non-refundable registration fee of $25 per family for St. John students and $50 per family for non-St. John Lutheran
students are due at time of enrollment. The child must be enrolled for the next school year to be considered a St. John
student at the time of enrollment for Summer Camp. If a child is scheduled to attend in any given week, and a spot for
that child is being held, the child must be in attendance or his/her spot could be eliminated! After one day of grace,
parents will be charged for the day(s) that they are absent. Calendars will be sent home on a bi-weekly basis for
parents to fill out their child’s schedules for child care. The director requests these schedules in advance in order to
staff accordingly.
Returned Check Fee
A $30.00 charge will be applied for having checks returned by the bank. The bank can possibly run the check again for
processing. If this happens two times, then a cash only policy will apply for childcare services.
Late Pickup Fee
There will be a $1.00 per minute past 5:30 ($10.00 minimum charge). This policy will be strictly enforced unless special
arrangements have been made with the center.
Sign-Out Policy
All children must be signed in and out on a daily basis. If a parent continues to disregard the sign-out procedure when
picking up their child, the child will be signed out at the Tigers’ Den CCC closing time of 5:30 pm.
Payment Policy
Payments are due when the invoice is received. If your bill is 30 days past due, you will receive a letter and be charged a
$10.00 late fee. The balance will need to be paid within 15 days, if not Tigers' Den will not be able to provide service until
the balance is paid. After 90 days, the account will be sent to collection.
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APPENDIX #2
ST. JOHN LUTHERAN SCHOOL WELLNESS POLICY
Philosophy
St. John Lutheran School believes that children and youth who begin each day as healthy individuals can learn more and
learn better and are more likely to have success in their education. St. John Lutheran School also believes that healthy staff
can more effectively perform their assigned duties and model appropriate wellness behaviors for students. This policy
encourages a holistic approach to staff and student wellness that is sensitive to individual needs. The wellness policy is
available at www.stjohntigers.com. -Approved 6.5.2020

Nutrition/Lunch Program
Academic performance and quality of life issues are affected by the choice and availability of good foods in our school.
Healthy foods support student physical growth, brain development, and resistance to disease, emotional stability and
ability to learn.
a) Meals served through the district's food services program shall comply with the National School Lunch and/or
Breakfast standards for meal patterns, nutrient levels, and calorie requirements for the ages/grade levels
served, as specified in 7 CFR 201.10 or 220.8, as applicable. (SM1)–Approved 6.5.2020
b) Services Department or contracted vendors. Menu and product selection shall utilize student, parent, staff and
community advisory groups whenever possible.
c) Nutrition services policies and guidelines for reimbursable meals shall meet federal and State of Ohio regulations
and guidelines.
d) A la Carte offerings to students shall be nutritious and meet federal recommended guidelines and shall be
selected with input from students, parents and staff. (SM6/N23)
e) St. John will provide breakfast through the USDA School Breakfast Program. (SM2)- Approved 6.5.2020
f) After obtaining food, students will have at least 20 minutes to eat lunch. (SM7)- Approved 6.5.2020
g) Schools are encouraged to source fresh fruits and vegetables from local farmers where practical. (EM10)Approved 6.5.2020
Smart Snacks
All food and beverages sold to students during the school day are considered smart snacks. (NS1)- Approved 6.5.2020
a) All food and beverages sold to students outside of school meals shall meet nutrition standards.
b) Smart snack standards are found at https://www.fns.usda.gov/tn/guide-smart-snacks-school - Approved
6.5.2020
c) Only healthy snacks will be served to student in afterschool programs. (NS10)- Approved 6.5.2020
d) All snacks sold to students during after school programs will meet the same nutrition standards as foods sold
during the school day. (NS11)- Approved 6.5.2020
e) School-based marketing shall be consistent with Smart Snacks nutrition standards. (WPM7)- Approved
6.5.2020
f) Foods and beverages not available for sale at St. John will not be advertised on school property. (WPM8)Approved 6.5.2020
g) Educational materials on school facilities will not include advertising of unhealthy foods or brands/logos of
prohibited foods. (WPM9/WPM10)- Approved 6.5.2020
h) St. John will attempt to limit advertising of unhealthy products in school publications. All ads should be
approved by the principal before printing on the school website. (WPM11)

Health Education and Life Skills
Healthy living skills shall be taught as part of the regular instructional program and provides the opportunity for all
students to understand and practice concepts and skills related to health promotion and disease prevention.
a) St. John Lutheran School shall provide for an interdisciplinary, sequential skill-based health education program
based upon State of Ohio standards and benchmarks. (PEPA5)
b) Students shall have access to valid and useful health information and health promotion products and services.
c) Students shall have the opportunity to practice behaviors that enhance health and/or reduce health risks during
the school day and as part of before or after school programs.
d) Students shall be taught communication, goal setting and decision making skills that enhance personal, family
and community health.
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Physical Education and Activity
Physical education and physical activity shall be an essential element of St. John Lutheran School’s instructional program.
The program shall provide the opportunity for all students to develop the skills, knowledge and attitudes necessary to
participate in a lifetime of healthful physical activity.

Physical Education Program
The physical education program shall be designed to stress physical fitness and encourage healthy, active lifestyles. The
physical education program shall consist of physical activities of at least moderate intensity and for a duration that is
sufficient to provide a significant health benefit to students, subject to the differing abilities of students.
a) Participation in such physical activity shall be required for all students in preschool through grade eight for a
minimum of thirty minutes, two days a week, or the equivalent.
b) Such instruction shall be provided for grades preschool - 8 through formal physical education courses, integration
into other courses, regularly scheduled intramural and extramural activities, and/or regularly scheduled schoolwide activities.
c) The Physical Education program shall include a Physical Fitness component whereby all students are tested
yearly regarding their level of fitness. Students shall be supported in setting and meeting personal fitness goals
that result in the achievement and maintenance of a health enhancing level of physical fitness.
d) Students shall be provided varied opportunities for enjoyment, challenge, self-expression and social interaction
that will lead to a physically active lifestyle.
e) The classroom teacher under a certified or non-tax teaching license teaches physical education. (PEPA7)Approved 6.5.2020
f) All staff involved in physical education will be provided opportunities for professional development.
(PEPA8)- Approved 6.5.2020
g) Students cannot be exempted from the required St. John Lutheran School physical education program.
(PEPA9)- Approved 6.5.2020
h) There will be no substitution allowed for physical education time requirement. (PEPA10). – Approved 6.5.2020
i) St. John Lutheran School shall provide at least 20 minutes of active daily recess for all elementary (K-4)
students. (PEPA13)- Approved 6.5.2020
j) St. John Lutheran School shall provide at least one physical activity break daily. (PEPA14)- Approved 6.5.2020

Healthy and Safe Environment
St. John Lutheran School shall strive to provide a healthy and safe environment for all, before, during and after school
because that supports academic success. Safer schools promote healthier students. Healthier students do better in school
and make greater contributions to their community.
(a) School buildings and grounds, structures, and equipment shall meet all current health and safety standards, and
be kept inviting, clean, safe and in good repair.
(b) St. John Lutheran School’s offices shall maintain an environment that is free of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs.
(c) Safety procedures and appropriate training for students and staff shall support personal safety and a violence and
harassment free environment.
(d) St. John Lutheran School shall work to create an environment where all students, parents/guardians and staff are
respected, valued and accepted with high expectations for personal behavior and accomplishments.
(e) St. John Lutheran School shall regularly conduct safety drills (fire and tornado evacuation) as directed by the
State of Ohio Fire Marshal.
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Social and Emotional Well-Being
Programs and services that support and value the social and emotional well being of students, families and staff build a
healthy school environment.
(a) St. John Lutheran School shall provide a supportive environment that includes guidance, counseling, and school
social services that encourages students, families and staff to request assistance when needed and links them to
school or community resources.
(b) Students shall be provided the skills to express their thoughts and feelings in a responsible and appropriate
manner and give and receive support from others.
(c) Students shall be taught to understand and respect the differences in others and how to build positive
interpersonal relationships.
(d) Students and staff shall be encouraged to balance work and recreation and helped to become aware of stressors,
which may interfere with health development.
School Health Services
An effective health care delivery system that promotes academic achievement by providing a broad scope of services
from qualified health care providers will improve the mental and physical health of students and staff.
(a) Primary coordination of health services shall be through a trained school health care practitioner (School Nurse)
with the support and direction of St. John Lutheran School and the Defiance County Health Department.
(b) St. John Lutheran School shall collaborate with community health liaisons and resources to promote health and
wellness for students, families, staff and community.
(c) A coordinated program of accessible health services shall be provided to students and staff and shall include
violence prevention, school safety, communicable disease prevention, health screening, including Body Mass
Index (BMI), community health referrals, and immunizations, parenting skills, first aid and other priority health
education topics.
(d) See Immunization chart below.

Family, School and Community Partnership
Long-term effective partnerships improve the planning and implementation of health promotion projects and events
within St. John Lutheran School and throughout the community.
(a) Families, students, and community partners shall be included on an ongoing basis in the school health and
wellness planning processes.
(b) The equality and diversity of the school and community shall be valued in planning and implementing wellness
activities.
(c) St. John Lutheran School shall support the engagement of students, families and staff in community health
enhancing activities and events at the school and throughout the community.
(d) St. John Lutheran School will develop joint- use agreements with community partners in order to provide
expanded physical activity opportunities for all students and community members. (PEPA15)- Approved
6.5.2020

Staff Wellness
St. John Lutheran School will provide information about community wellness resources and services and assist in
identifying and supporting the health, safety and well-being of the teaching and non-teaching support staff.
(a) St. John Lutheran School shall be in compliance with drug, alcohol and tobacco free policies.
(b) St. John Lutheran School shall provide an accessible and productive work environment free from physical dangers
or emotional threat that is as safe as possible and consistent with applicable occupation and health laws, policies
and rules. The Defiance County Board of Health and the Fire Marshal for the City of Defiance shall monitor this
regularly.
(c) Employees shall be encouraged to engage in daily physical activity during the workday whenever possible (using
stairs, modeling/demonstrating activities/exercises during physical education classes, etc.) and after work hours.
(WPM1)
(d) All hot lunch program staff will follow the USDA professional standards for State and Local nutrition
programs to endure that professional development of food and nutrition. (EM9)- Approved 6.5.2020
(e) St. John’s health insurance provides support to employees through diet, exercise and healthy living. (WPM2)
(f) Food will not be used for a staff reward. (WPM3)- Approved 6.5.2020
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Evaluation
St. John Lutheran School recognizes the importance of measuring and evaluating school wellness progress for continual
improvement in the years to come. Measurements and evaluations will be done on a yearly basis in the spring of the
school year. Reevaluation of goals will be stated following the results of the measurements and evaluations each spring.
(a) We will document and continue to track the number of students participating in sports programs and fitnessrelated extracurricular activities.
(b) The principal, school nurse, CDS Board, parents and staff will revisit this wellness policy annually to
evaluate its effectiveness and revise, update, or amend the policy as needed. (IEC1/IEC7) Prior to the
meeting, a letter will be sent requesting participation in reviews and updating of the wellness policy.
(IEC2)- Approved 6.5.2020
(c) The principal or designee shall ensure compliance with established school wide nutrition and physical
activity policies. (IEC3)- Approved 6.5.2020
(d) A quantitative assessment of policy implementation every three years using the (WellSAT-1) Wellness
School Assessment Tool Implementation will be conducted. (IEC5)- Approved 6.5.2020
(e) The triennial progress report will be posted on the school’s website. (IEC6)- Approved 6.5.2020
(f) The school wellness committee meets annually. (IEC8)- Approved 6.5.2020
Adopted: Fall 2014
Approved: 6.28.18
Reviewed 10.6.20
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Parental Statement of Support

To follow Christ’s example, and empowered by the Holy Spirit, prepare children for a life of
discipleship by helping them grow in faith, knowledge and character
DEVELOPING DYNAMIC DISCIPLES

We, as the school, are partnering with you, as the parents, in the education of your children. It is therefore important that we
work cooperatively and in a positive manner toward this goal. In setting the tone for this partnership, we ask that you read and
sign this statement of cooperation and support to clarify some of the points of providing a quality education for your child.
We agree to cooperate with school personnel in a positive and supportive manner concerning the operation of the school
ministry and the implementation of the education programs.
We agree to apply the principles of Matthew 18:15-17 in resolving any questions or matters of disagreement. (Matthew 18
requires direct communication with the persons involved as opposed to general discussions with other parents or teachers who
are not directly involved in the matter.)
We agree that the spiritual development of our child involves home, church, and school and will endeavor to be involved in
each of these areas.
We have read the St. John Lutheran School Parent/Student Handbook and agree to uphold it and encourage our child(ren) to
adhere to all policies and procedures set forth within the handbook.
We agree with and will support the purpose, policies, and procedures of the school as outlined in the school handbook.
We understand and will encourage the importance of our child developing and maintaining a proper respect and response to
God-given authorities.
We understand and will encourage the importance of our child developing and maintaining honor and respect for the rights
and property of others.
We understand and will encourage the importance of our child developing and maintaining a desire to pursue their God-given
potential in the area of academics, arts, and athletics.
We agree to uphold and support the academic standards of the school by encouraging the completion of homework and
assignments.
We agree to support and honor the teachers, administration, and staff members of St. John Lutheran Church and School, as well
as to pray for them and their ministry, which includes being positive on social media about school and/or faculty and staff.
We understand that it is our obligation to ensure that our child arrives at school on time each day. We further understand that it
is our responsibility to see that regular attendance is maintained.
We pledge to pay our financial obligations to the school regularly and on time.
We have read and agree to all that is stated above and acknowledge we have received the school’s handbook and understand
it is our responsibility to read and comply with the policies and procedures (must be signed by both parents/guardians).
Student name(s):

Teacher(s):

Signature of Student(s)

Date

Signature of Parent/Guardian

Date

Signature of Parent/Guardian

Date
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